Republic of Iraq Ministry of Higher Education And scientific Research University of Baghdad College of Dentistry





# Sleep apnea and orthodontics (Review Study)

A Project Submitted to

The College of Dentistry, University of Baghdad, Department of orthodontics in Partial Fulfillment for the Bachelor of Dental Surgery

By:

# Mena Mohammed Moslem

Supervised by:

# Assist.Prof. Sami k. Al-Joubori

B.D.S., M.Sc.(orthodontics)

May, 2022

## **Certification of the Supervisor**

I certify that this project entitled "Sleep apnea and orthodontics" was prepared by the fifth-year student Mena Mohammed Moslem under my supervision at the College of Dentistry/University of Baghdad in partial fulfilment of the graduation requirements for the Bachelor Degree in Dentistry.

Supervisor's name:

Assist.Prof. Sami k. Al-Joubori

Date

#### Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents who have never failed to give me financial and moral support, for giving all my needs during the time we developed our system and for teaching me that even the largest task can be accomplished if it is done one step as a time. I dedicate this Project to all the people who have worked hard to help me to complete this project.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

By the name of God, it is by his grace that the current review has come to exist.

I would like to thank professor **Dr. Raghad Alhashimi, Dean of College of Dentistry** for his great facilitation all the way through the study.

My grateful thanks **to Dr. Yassir Abdul-Khadem Yassir**, chairman of department of orthodontic at college of dentistry/University of Baghdad.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude, grateful and truthful thanks to my academic supervisor **Dr.sami Kadem** for the continuous support throughout my project, for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of study and the writing of this review. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my project.

Finally, I offer my regards and blessing to my family for their support and encouragement.

# **Table of Contents**

#### Project layout

Cover page
Certification of the SupervisorI
DedicationII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS III
List of FiguresVI
List of abbreviationsVII
Introduction1
Aim of study3
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE
1.1Definition
1.2CLASSIFICATION OF SLEEP APNEA
1.2.1 Obstructive sleep apnea4
1.2.2 Central sleep apnea5
1.2.3 Mixed Sleep apnea5
1.3 Methods of detection of sleep apnea5
1.3.1 Apnea-Hypopnea Index (AHI)5
1.3.2Respiratory Disturbance Index (RDI)6
1.3.3 Reporting oxygen saturation
1.4 Clinical presentation of sleep apnea6
1.5 Orthodontic examination7
1.5.1 Extraoral examination7
1.5.2 Intraoral examination7
1.5.3 Radiographs
1.5.4 physical Characteristics
1.6 Risk factors
1.6.1 Risk of orthodontic extraction of premolars in causing sleep apnea8
1.6.2 sleep apnea and covid-1910
1.6.3 obesity and sleep apnea10
1.6.4 Acromegaly and sleep apnea11
1.6.5 Pleomorphic adenoma and sleep apnea11
1.7 Memory and sleep apnea12
1.7.1 The Effect of OSA on Verbal Memory12

1.7.2 The Effect of OSA on Visual Memory	12
1.7.3 The Effect of OSA on Visuo-spatial Memory	13
1.8 Treatment options	. 13
1.8.1 Life style and behavioral modification	13
1.8.2 Molar crossbite correction and sleep apnea	14
1.8.3 Positive airway pressure	15
1.8.4 Oral appliance	16
1.8.5 Orthognathic surgery	19
1.8.6 Upper airway electrical neurostimulation	21
CHAPTER 2: Discussion	. 23
CHAPTER 3: Conclusions	. 25
Suggestions for future studying	. 26
References	27

# List of Figures

Figures	Title	Pages no.
Figure 1	An example of a PAP device without a humidifier	15
Figure 2	An example of a PAP device which incorporates a	16
	built-in heated humidifier	
Figure 3	The CPAP device	16
Figure 4	Three imensional images show the patient's airway	17
	without and with an oral appliance	
Figure 5	Sagittal view of EMA and Lingual view of EMA	18
Figure 6	CT Dentascan of nasal cavity increase before and	19
	after RME	
Figure 7	Frontal view of the upper airway demonstrating a	20
	deviated septum and swollen turbinates	
Figure 8	Inspire Upper airway electrical stimulation system	22
	Implantable device, remote	
Figure 9	Upper airway electrical stimulation	22

abbreviations	Meaning
SRBDs	Sleep Related Breathing Disorders
OSAS	Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome
AHI	Apnea Hypopnea Index
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnea
RDI	Respiratory Disturbance Index
UA	Upper Airway
BMI	Body Mass Index
СТ	Computed Tomography
CBCT	Cone Beam Computed Tomography
2D	Two Dimensions
3D	Three Dimensions
COVID-19	Corona Virus Disease in 2019
RAAS	Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone System
ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
SARS COV-19	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus in 2019
GH	Growth Hormone
PAP	Positive Airway Pressure
СРАР	Continues Positive Airway Pressure
OA	Oral Appliance
RME	Rapid Maxillary Expansion
EMA	Elastic Mandibular Advancement
MRD	Mandibular Repositioning Device
RERAs	Respiratory Events Related Arousals
UAS	Upper Air way Stimulation
HNS	Hypoglossal Nerve Stimulation
FDA	Food and Drug Administration

# List of abbreviations

#### Introduction

Sleep apnea is represented as the cessation of breathing on a regular basis while sleeping. This can occur for a brief period from a few seconds to more than a minute, and it can happen hundreds of times during a sleep cycle (**Ronald and Dennis, 2010**). Since much of the upper airway is part of the craniofacial complex, the orthodontist can observe the airway and modulate it in case of potential obstructions (**Graber, 2019**). When nasal obstruction occurs, the body is forced to breathe through the mouth, this switching of breathing through mouth habitually makes the person more attributable to nasal obstruction and more likely to have sleep disorder (**Graber, 2017**).

The name "sleep apnea" comes from the fact that people with it stop breathing while sleeping, missing multiple cycles of respiratory activity before waking up gasping for breath. The issue is a blockage or severe narrowing of the airway, which can occur anywhere between the nostrils and the lungs but is most commonly found in the upper pharynx to midpharynx, where the tongue can intermittently block the pharyngeal airway when muscle relaxation causes the mandible to drop backward during sleep (**proffit, 2019**).

Sleep disorders are not only common in the general population, but they also have the potential to have a considerable influence on both an individual's health and society. Sleep issues can affect a person's quality of life and daily performance in education, driving or operating machines, the workplace, and relationships. The dentist's involvement in identifying individuals at risk for sleep apnea and other sleep-related breathing disorders (SRBDs) including snoring is now well established. A dentist is just as likely as a physician to spot who is at risk for obstructive sleep apnea

(Ronald and Dennis, 2010).

Stanford University Medical School has emphasized the importance of multidisciplinary collaboration in the treatment of breathing-related sleep disorders and that children with mild between obstructive sleep apnea syndrome commonly present with airway obstruction due to nasal septum deviation and a narrow upper jaw in several reports. It was also stated that the function of craniofacial anomalies and the influence of orthodontics in children with obstructive sleep apnea has often been overlooked until now, despite their impact on public health (**Christian, 2010**).

#### Aim of study

To study the etiological factors, pathogenesis, methods of detection of sleep apnea, the effect of sleep apnea on teeth and dentoalveolar bone, orthodontist role in detection and treating sleep apnea and to discuss the treatment methods of sleep apnea.

#### **CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### **1.1 Definition**

Is a condition involving intermittent collapse of the pharynx, usually at the level of soft palate, causing episodes of apnea during sleep (Longmore, 2010).

Muscle tone declines during sleep and thus, upper airway dilating muscles are unable to maintain pharyngeal patency. In severe cases, the patient wakes up briefly multiple times during the night to allow dilating muscles to re-open the airway. This results in severe sleep fragmentation leading to symptoms such as daytime somnolence, morning headaches and decreased cognitive performance (**Colledge** *et al.*, **2010**).

#### **1.2CLASSIFICATION OF SLEEP APNEA**

Three types of apneas may be observed during sleep:

#### 1.2.1 Obstructive sleep apnea

Occurs when airflow is absent or nearly absent but ventilator effort persists. It is caused by complete, or nearly complete, upper air way obstruction (**Graber, 2017**). Due to the rattling of the tongue and soft palate, Obstructive sleep apnea can cause snoring. It can also make a person feel as if they are unable to breathe when they wake up. The lungs function normally, and the body tries to breathe, but it is impossible to get enough air into the upper airway (**Zawn, 2021**).

Obstructive sleep apnea gets more common as individuals become older, and it's more common in men, people who are overweight, pregnant women, and those who sleep on their backs (**Schmidt** *et al.*, **1990; Nagayoshi, 2011).** 

#### **1.2.2 Central sleep apnea**

Central apnea occurs when both airflow and ventilator efforts are absent (**Graber, 2017**). It does not, however, develop as a result of upper airway obstruction. Rather, the source of the problem is neurological. In contrast to obstructive sleep apnea central sleep apnea causes no snoring since the body does not try to breathe. Instead, the person stops breathing because the brain and nervous system do not consistently provide a signal to do so (**Zawn, 2021**).

#### 1.2.3 Mixed Sleep apnea

It is a mix of intervals during which no respiratory efforts occur (i.e., central apnea pattern) and intervals during which obstructed respiratory efforts occur (**Graber, 2017**). In other words, it combines between obstructive sleep apnea and central sleep apnea. Sometimes, mixed sleep apnea syndrome is obvious in an initial sleep study. Other times, it becomes apparent after the apnea does not resolve with a typical continuous positive air way pressure machine or other traditional obstructive sleep apnea treatments (**Zawn, 2021**).

#### **1.3 Methods of detection of sleep apnea 1.3.1 Apnea-Hypopnea Index (AHI)**

The AHI is the total number of apneas and hypopneas per hour of sleep. The AHI is most commonly calculated per hour of total sleep and is the current defining measure of disease and disease risk (**O'Connor** *et al.*, **2009; Redline** *et al.*, **2010).** If AHI values are 4 or less, then the patient is within normal limits. OSA is mild when the AHI reflects 5 to 15 episodes per hour of sleep, moderate when the AHI reflects 15 to 29 episodes per hour of sleep, and severe when the AHI reflects 30 and higher episodes per hour of sleep (**Ruehland** *et al.*, **2009**).

#### **1.3.2Respiratory Disturbance Index (RDI)**

It is generally larger than the AHI, because the RDI considers the frequency of RERAs, whereas the AHI does not. The RDI is the total number of events (apneas, hypopneas) per hour of sleep. OSA severity is defined as mild when the RDI reflects 5 to 15 episodes per hour of sleep, moderate when the RDI reflects 15 to 30 episodes per hour of sleep, and severe when the RDI reflects 30 or more episodes per hour of sleep (**Berry** *et al.*, **2007**).

#### **1.3.3 Reporting oxygen saturation**

The oxygen desaturation index is the number of times that the oxygen saturation falls by more than 3% to 4% per hour of sleep. The percent of sleep time during which oxygen saturation is <90% quantifies the exposure to hypoxemia. This measures and mean oxygen saturation are associated with a risk for cardiovascular disorders and glucose intolerance (**Punjabi and Polotsky, 1985**).

#### **1.4 Clinical presentation of sleep apnea**

The most well-known symptoms are stentorian snoring and extreme sleepiness; however, both snoring and sleepiness may be denied or minimized by the patient, or they may be less noticeable than other symptoms including insomnia, weariness, or inattention. Given the ubiquity of sleep loss, sleepiness may develop into fatigue over time or sleepiness may be seen normal (**Graber, 2017**).

Other common reports in adults include: (Graber, 2017)

• Physically restless sleep and reports of insomnia

• Morning dry mouth or sore throat from mouth breathing after recovering from apnea and/or hypopnea

- Morning confusion and headache from increased carbon dioxide levels
- Personality changes (irritability and distracted demeanor) and judgment changes as a result of sleepiness
- Night sweats, secondary to increased work of breathing
- •Erectile dysfunction, especially in the setting of hyperlipidemia

### **1.5 Orthodontic examination**

The following were the findings of a clinical orthodontic examination based on the authors' diagnostic criteria (Gianni *et al.*, 1980; Di Malta *et al.*, 1992).

#### 1.5.1 Extraoral examination

Reveals the usual facial features of oral breathers, including:

- flattening of the center part of the face
- labial incompetence with hypotonia of the upper lip, and an increase in the nasal-labial angle as a result.

#### **1.5.2 Intraoral examination**

Presence in all cases of narrowness of the upper jaw with an ogival palate pattern resulting from a high and narrow palatal arch. This narrowness was clinically present in most of the treated cases with a malocclusion characterized by unilateral or bilateral crossbite and often by an anterior crossbite (**Christian, 2010**). The narrowness of the upper jaw was diagnosed clinically and confirmed by cephalometric assessment according to Ricketts parameters in posteroanterior cephalograms (**Langlade, 1979**).

#### **1.5.3 Radiographs**

were used in an orthognathic study, which comprised not only the standard examination, such as posteroanterior cephalographs and intraoral radiographs, but also CT scans. Except for CT Dentascan, all investigations were performed (1) prior to orthodontic therapy (pretreatment T0); (2) one month (T1) following therapy, with the device still in place; and (3) four months after the end of orthodontic treatment, which lasted six to twelve months(**Christian, 2010**).

#### **1.5.4 Physical Characteristics**

Obesity should be assessed when the patient first visits the clinic. Body mass index (BMI) and neck circumference are the greatest indicators for the presence of OSA, according to recent review papers offering clinical prediction models (**Sutherland** *et al.*, **2012**). BMI is computed by multiplying a person's weight in kilograms by the square of their height in meters (kg/m2). BMI is a straightforward method of calculating body fat based on weight and height; however, it is not always accurate because weight includes both muscles and fat (**Su-Jung and Ki Beom**, **2020**). But, Neck size is an important predictor of sleep apnea and, in some cases, is a better predictor than body mass index, presumably because additional tissue can influence the size (**Graber**, **2017**).

#### **1.6 Risk factors**

# **1.6.1 Risk of orthodontic extraction of premolars in causing sleep** apnea

An earlier study compared pre- and post-treatment cephalometric radiographs to see if there were any significant differences in nasopharyngeal dimensions and total airway length. There was no statistical difference between the pre- and post-treatment groups (**Sharma**  *et al.*, **2014**).One possible explanation is that the position of the tongue during total retraction of anterior teeth during orthodontic treatment has no effect on nasopharyngeal dimensions. However, following orthodontic therapy, the velopharyngeal, glossopharyngeal, and pharyngeal airways narrowed after extraction treatment (**Rodgers, 2017**).

Another study found that when the incisors were fully retracted, the velopharyngeal and glossopharyngeal airway space decreased (**Bhatia** *et al.*, 2016).

It is crucial to note that, while previously considered as an acceptable method, a 2D evaluation by cephalometric analysis is still relatively limiting and would benefit from 3D evaluations to estimate total airway space. In contrast to the previous study by **Valiathan** *et al.* in **2010** found no significant variation in oropharyngeal airway space between initial and final therapy in two separate groups, extraction and non-extraction. (**Valiathan** *et al.*, **2010**).

То date proof that orthodontic there is no premolar extractions directly induce obstructive sleep apnea. Although a large number of research have looked at upper airway dimensions using cephalometry or CBCT, there is relatively little evidence on the association between orthodontic premolar extractions, respiratory function, and obstructive sleep apnea (Hu Z et al., 2015). As a result, it's critical to recognize that, even if premolar extractions and incisor retraction reduces certain dimensions within the upper airway, there's no evidence that this reduction would predispose the airway to collapse, resulting in OSA. More 3D studies that use diagnostic and assessment approaches while monitoring direct sites of airway blockages during sleep are considered essential (Valiathan et al., 2010).

#### 1.6.2 Sleep apnea and covid-19

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the link between obesity, cardiovascular disease and Covid-19, including low-grade chronic inflammation, chronic hypoxemia and oxidative stress and involvement of the renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) linked to expression of ACE2, the cellular receptor of SARS-CoV-2. However, the contribution of these mechanisms to Covid-19 pathology remain to be resolved (**Lighter** *et al.*, 2020). Intermittent hypoxemia is one of the main pathologic features of OSA and could potentially worsen hypoxemia caused by Covid-19.OSA is also related to chronic inflammatory state and is associated with increased levels of proinflammatory markers such as ferritin, interleukin-6 and leptin, which may contribute to the risk for cytokine storm in Covid-19(McSharry and Malhotra, 2020). Hypercoagulability is another pathophysiologic feature shared by both Covid-19 and OSA (**Ip MS et al.**, 2000; McSharry and Malhotra, 2020).

#### 1.6.3 Obesity and sleep apnea

Obesity becomes a major risk factor for development of a type of sleep disorder called Obstructive Sleep Apnea and progression (**Zaman**, **2019**). Due to fat deposition in the tissues of upper airway, it leads to smaller lumen and increased chances of collapsibility of the airway, further developing apnea. Also, the fat which deposits around abdomen reduces chest compliance and functional residual capacity in lungs leading to slight increase in the oxygen demand. Visceral obesity is the most common found in people suffering from OSA (**Zaman**, **2019**).

#### **1.6.4** Acromegaly and sleep apnea

Acromegaly is a disease characterized by the excessive secretion of growth hormone (Chanson and Salenave, 2008). Patients with acromegaly present with several characteristics than can contribute to development of sleep disturbances (Bottini *et al.*, 2003). The proliferation of soft-tissue in the upper airway contributes to airway narrowing and may lead to partial or complete airway obstruction during sleep (Mickelson *et al.*, 1994).

It has been reported a prevalence of sleep hypoxemia in 41% of acromegaly patients, and many agree that the prolonged exposure to low oxygen levels may be the underlying cause for increased mortality rate in those patient seep (**Rodrigues** *et al.*, 2007).

The transsphenoidal pituitary surgery remains the main treatment option for GH-secreting tumors. It remains unclear whether the treatment of acromegaly via transsphenoial pituitary surgery can have long-term beneficial effects in reducing the severity and morbidity of OSAS (Chanson and Salenave, 2008).

#### 1.6.5 Pleomorphic adenoma and sleep apnea

Pleomorphic adenoma is a benign salivary gland tumor known for its pleomorphic appearance under light microscopy (**Agius** *et al.*, **2018**). Up to 2005 only 30 cases of obstructive sleep apnea caused by head and neck tumors have been reported (**Rada**, **2005**).

In rare occasions, obstructive sleep apnea is a result of anatomical abnormalities such as a mass in the upper aerodigestive tract. Apart from obstructive sleep apnea, tumors of this location may also cause dyspnoea, dysphagia and airway obstruction(<u>http://www.springer.com/medicine/surgery/journal</u>/12663).

#### 1.7 Memory and sleep apnea

Sleep is known to play a role in memory formation of newly learned information (**Harand** *et al.*, **2012**). The disruption of normal sleep architecture (disrupting sleep cycles and stages) produced by frequent arousals induced by apneas and hypopneas is referred to as sleep fragmentation (**Cheshire** *et al.*, **1992**). Among the most common ailments affecting older adult's quality sleep are insomnia, sleep-disordered breathing encompassing obstructive sleep apnea (**Monjan**, **2010**).

#### 1.7.1 The Effect of OSA on Verbal Memory

The ability to recall verbal information immediately after it was presented was significantly impaired in individuals with OSA compared to both controls and norms. The effect found in the present study is likely to be due to two factors: analyzing verbal immediate recall independently of short-term working memory, verbal learning, and cued recall; and the greater number of studies included, thus adding more power to the present analysis. In addition to difficulties recalling information immediately, individuals with OSA were significantly impaired when recalling verbal information following a delay compared to controls or norms. Impaired delayed recall can result from inefficient storage of information impeding retrieval, poor retention of information in long-term memory, or difficulties with retrieving information once stored (**Wallace** *et al.*, **2013**).

#### 1.7.2 The Effect of OSA on Visual Memory

Visual memory was distinguished from visuo-spatial memory in the current meta-analysis. Visual memory requires participants to recall visual material. Individuals with OSA showed intact visual immediate recall compared to norms and controls. At least two studies are required to conduct a meta-analysis, and this criterion was not reached for any other aspect of visual memory (**Wallace** *et al.*, **2013**).

#### 1.7.3 The Effect of OSA on Visuo-spatial Memory

Similar to the verbal domain, the effect sizes for visuo-spatial memory were comparable for the immediate-recall and delayed-recall domains. This suggests individuals with OSA have an encoding deficit that affects recall of both visuo-spatial and verbal information. Taken together, the visual and visuo-spatial memory analyses reveal evidence of intact immediate visual recall but impaired immediate and delayed visuo-spatial recall in OSA compared with controls (**Wallace** *et al.*, **2013**).

# **1.8 Treatment options1.8.1 Life style and behavioral modification**

Weight loss to a BMI of 25 kg/m2 or less, exercise, positional therapy during sleep, and avoidance of alcohol or sedatives before bedtime are all lifestyle alterations or behavioral treatments that can aid in OSA treatment (**Epstein** *et al.*, **2009**). Weight loss alone has not shown success in solving OSA; therefore, it should always be accomplished in conjunction with other therapy (**Timothy** *et al.*, **2006**). Sleeping in a supine position can affect the size and patency of the airway, enabling all structures to collapse. A way of keeping the patient sleeping in a nonsupine position is known as positional therapy. Positional therapy does not always work; as a result, polysomnography should be done in both the supine and nonsupine positions before choosing whether it will be used as a primary

or secondary therapy for a patient. Objects such as tennis balls, pillows, or a backpack can be used to keep the patient from sleeping in a supine position (**Pevernagie** *et al.*, **1995**).

#### 1.8.2 Molar crossbite correction and sleep apnea

It was found The likelihood of additional alleviation of a constricted airway after maxillary expansion and orthodontic therapy is of particular relevance for a sleep apnea patient with a clinical presentation of a narrow maxilla and accompanying bilateral molar crossbite (Allen *et al.*, 2003; Ennedy *et al.*, 2005).

The application of orthodontic system Fastbraces, a new technology system of braces that uses torque to facilitate root up righting and thus alveolar bone remodeling and development, thereby correcting transverse discrepancies, also correcting an associated anterior open bite in a short treatment time (**Viazis** *et al.*, **2016**). Because of the link between upper airway structure and sleep-disordered breathing, particularly obstructive sleep apnea, there is a growing body of study and interest in upper airway shape and dimensions (**Katyal** *et al.*, **2013**; **Flores** *et al.*, **2013**).

When comparing sleep apnea and healthy patients, the analysis and upper airway measurement of landmarks on cephalograms shows a definite tendency for sleep apnea patients to have reduced airway dimensions (**Young** *et al.*, **1993**; **Kim** *et al.*, **2004**). Despite the patients may did not have any signs or symptoms of sleep apnea, compared pre and post therapy cephalograms show a wider upper airway opening between the dorsum of the tongue and the posterior pharyngeal wall. While additional clinical research is necessary this treatment presents a possible adjunctive benefit to the sleep apnea (**Viazis** *et al.*, **2016**).

#### **1.8.3** Positive airway pressure

Continuous positive airway pressure therapy is highly efficacious and currently the reference standard of treatment in preventing airway collapse. Early Continuous positive airway pressure systems and masks were cumbersome and intrusive, but newer systems are light, less noisy, and easier to use. Nonetheless, many patients find the system difficult to tolerate (Yetkin *et al.*, 2008; Weaver and Grunstein, 2008).

Delivered as continuous, bilevel or autotitrating modes. The airway pressure can be applied through nasal, oral, or oronasal mask. PAP therapy is also indicated for improving sleepiness and quality of life and as an adjunctive therapy to lowering blood pressure in patients with OSA who also have hypertension (**Graber, 2017**).



Figure 1: An example of a PAP device without a humidifier (Ronald and Dennis, 2010).



Figure 2: An example of a PAP device which incorporates a built-in heated humidifier (Ronald and Dennis, 2010).



Figure 3: The CPAP device fits over the lip and the labial surface of teeth

(Graber, 2017)

#### **1.8.4 Oral appliance**

As a general rule, patients with severe OSA are not treated with oral appliance because of the concern that failed treatment or partial treatment may lead to respiratory failure (**Graber**, 2017).



Figure 4:Three-dimensional images show the patient's airway without and with an oral appliance. (Graber, 2017).

The three general groups of oral appliances that are available include soft palate lift devices, tongue retention devices, and mandibular advancement splints (**Graber**, 2017). A cross-over clinical trial comparing different OA designs found mandibular advancement splints to be an effective alternative in treating patients with severe obstructive sleep apnea, whereas tongue retention and soft palate lift devices did not achieve satisfactory results (**Annapurna** *et al.*, 2014).

Mandibular advancement splints are the predominant type of oral appliances used in clinical practice and have shown the best results (**Barthlen** *et al.*, 2000).

Mandibular advancement splints effects include:

- 1. Enlargement of velopharyngeal airway caliber in the lateral dimensions (Chan et al., 2010 A; Chan et al., 2010 B).
- 2. Increasing UA neuromuscular tone.
- 3. Stimulation of UA dilator muscles (Tsuiki et al., 2007).

Mandibular advancement splints can be one piece (monobloc) or two pieces (bibloc) in design, custom-made or prefabricated, and titratable or nontitratable (**Graber, 2017**).



A B Figure 5: a) Sagittal view of EMA.(b) Lingual view of EMA (Ronald and Dennis, 2010)

#### **Rapid maxillary expansion:**

Is a therapeutic procedure that the authors successfully performed for many years to obtain a skeletal expansion of the upper jaw. The anatomic criteria of this technique consist in the application of orthopedic forces, through particular procedures, on the midpalatal suture. This suture is mainly made up of compact bone laterally and fibrous tissue with fibroblasts, collagen fibers, and vessels centrally (**Pirelli** *et al.*, **1993**; **Pirelli** *et al.*, **1996**). Because of the biology of the bone, bone distraction is feasible and can be performed by exerting heavy stresses through an orthodontic device anchored to the teeth. The maxilla widens as a result of bone distraction at the suture level, increasing its cross section as well as the anatomic space of the nasal cavity.At the cross-sectional level, there is a significant increase, with a significant improvement in nasal airflow. The nasal cavities are definitely affected by increasing the cross section of the upper jaw, and it is a real anatomic alteration that results in improved upper airway patency. This increase is also the basis for the positive effects induced by the RME maneuver on the respiratory function.CT images before and after RME therapy confirm that the expansion occurs not only in the maxillary arch but also in the nasal cavity (figure 6), the widening of the nasal fossa and the septal release restore normal airflow. This anatomic change brings about an increased patency of the upper airway. This patency is the basis for the positive effects induced by the maneuver, and it acts on air exchange, with a net improvement of breathing disorders during sleep (Christian, 2010).



Figure 6: CT Dentascan of nasal cavity increase before and after RMA (Christian, 2010)

#### **1.8.5 Orthognathic surgery**

Surgical procedures may be considered as a secondary option when the patient is intolerant of CPAP or OAs or when CPAP therapy is unable to eliminate OSA (**Graber, 2017**). Surgery may also be considered as a secondary therapy in patients with mild to moderate OSA, when the patient is also intolerant of OAs, or when OA therapy provides unacceptable improvement of the clinical outcomes (**José** *et al.*, **2012**).

Surgical treatment alternatives for OSA treatment include:

- UA bypass procedure or tracheostomy: This procedure creates an opening in the trachea to bypass the UA where obstruction is causing OSA. A tube or stoma is placed for ventilation (Graber, 2017)
  - Nasal procedures: The objective of procedures such as septoplasty, functional rhinoplasty, inferior turbinate reduction, and nasal polypectomy is to eliminate the obstruction that is preventing nasal breathing (Sugiura *et al.*, 2007; Friedman *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 7: Frontal view of the upper airway demonstrating a deviated septum and swollen turbinates (Ronald and Dennis, 2010).

•Tonsillectomy and/or adenoidectomy: When OSA is properly diagnosed such procedures can provide significant improvements in the treatment of OSA in children and young adults (Graber, 2017).

#### 1.8.6 Upper airway electrical neurostimulation

Upper airway stimulation therapy is effective for a subset of obstructive sleep apnea patients with continuous positive airway pressure intolerance (**Ryan, 2022**). It based concept is stimulation using a unilateral implantable neurostimulator for the hypoglossal nerve (**Graber, 2017**).

The Inspire upper airway stimulation system (**Figure 10**), which was developed by Inspire Medical Systems, was recently approved to treat moderate-to-severe OSA (**Food and Drug Administration, 2020; Inspire Medical Systems, 2020**). This device is indicated for use in OSA patients aged 22 years and older who demonstrate failure of or intolerance to PAP treatment. An AHI score of 15 to 65 with PAP use is considered treatment failure. If the patient does not use a PAP machine for more than 4 hours per night or for more than 5 nights per week, he or she is considered to be intolerant to PAP treatment. Patients aged 18 to 21 years with an AHI score of 15 to 65 may use UAS if they meet the following criteria: They are intolerant to or have failed PAP therapy; do not have complete soft-palate collapse; do not qualify for or have failed adenotonsillectomy therapy; or have exhausted all other therapeutic options (**FDA, 2020**).

Inspire UAS system device is surgically implanted in the patient's chest. After a recovery period of 1 month, the device may be activated. (FDA, 2020 A; FDA, 2020 B). The device has a small generator, a breathing sensor lead, and a stimulation lead (figure 11). The patient can turn on the therapy before bedtime and turn it off in the morning through a remote control (Graber, 2017). The patient can use it by a remote to turn the therapy on at bedtime and off upon waking (FDA, 2020).



Figure8: Inspire Upper airway electrical stimulation system, Implantable device(left), remote(right).

(Inspire Medical Systems, 2020)



#### A

В

Figure 9 : Upper airway electrical stimulation. A.(*From left to right*) Stimulation lead, generator, breathing sensor lead., neurostimulator, cuff electrode B. Remote control (Graber, 2017).

#### **CHAPTER 2: Discussion**

The purpose of this study was to review the role of orthodontist/sleep dentist in managing of sleep apnea. A declaration is warranted. OSA, in most cases, is a chronic condition.

The sleep is an activity that takes one third of our lives, being fundamental to the maintenance of the mental, physical and emotional health of our organism, so by these frequent episodes of intermittent sleep deprivation the general condition of person affected.

The most effective treatment plans are comprehensive and multidisciplinary because OSA is a complex multifactorial condition. The sleep team, including the orthodontist/sleep dentist, mustn't be intimidated by the trial and failure nature of OSA management. If we try our best to follow evidence-based practices, we do eventually help many patients.

There are certain behavioral and systemic factors that can contribute to sleep apnea. These include: obesity, acromegaly, pleomorphic adenoma, COVID-19.

Most patients with sleep apnea are objectively sleepy, although daytime sleepiness is underreported because it generally manifests itself over a prolonged period and patients change their lifestyles gradually to compensate for it. Loud snoring, fatigue, or both are frequently the patient's only symptoms. A focused history taking and physical examination of patients who report such symptoms may aid in identifying persons at risk for sleep apnea. Other patient characteristics associated with sleep apnea include male sex; age of more than 40 years; habitual snoring; nocturnal gasping, choking, or resuscitative snorting; observed apnea; and a history of systemic hypertension. Symptoms of daytime somnolence, unrefreshing sleep, morning headaches, cognitive impairment, depression, nocturnal esophageal reflux, and nocturia are commonly reported, but do not distinguish sleep apnea from other, nonpulmonary, sleep disorders.

The Inspire Upper Airway Stimulation (UAS) device (also called Hypoglossal nerve stimulation or HNS device). It is FDA approved and it is the newest option for obstructive sleep apnea treatment. The device is implanted in the chest and works to stimulate the tongue to keep the upper airway open during sleep.

# **CHAPTER 3:** Conclusions

- Sleep disorders, most commonly OSA, affect a great portion of the adult population.
- The airway is an integral part of the craniofacial complex, often ignored during clinical examination and when determining the diagnosis and treatment options.
- Many patients go undiagnosed. In children, airway problems reportedly have detrimental effects on craniofacial growth and development.
- The orthodontist is strategically positioned to screen children and adults. The simple incorporation of a few questions and radiographic examination are probably sufficient to identify risks and to refer for proper diagnosis. Even if the orthodontist decides not to treat an airway problem, understanding the condition for the purpose of screening and referral is still an important responsibility of the orthodontist.

# **Suggestions for future studying**

- Looking for more treatment modalities that treat root cause of sleep apnea
- Find out methods eliminate loud snoring in patients with sleep apnea
- Studying effects of treating sleep apnea on lowering blood pressure in hypertensive patients

# References

# A

- Agius Spiteri, M., Grech G., & BartoloA(2018). Obstructive sleep apnoea caused by a pleomorphic adenoma: A case report. J Otolaryngol ENT Res, 10(2), 75-77.
- 2) Allen D., Rebellato J., Sheats R., & Ceron A. M.(2003). Skeletal and dental contributions to posterior crossbites. Angle Orthodontist. *Journal of Otolaryngology-ENT Research73*(5):515–524
- 3) Annapurna K, Suganya S, Vasanth R, Kumar PR.(2014). Prosthodontic approach to treat obstructive sleep apnea. Ann Med Health Sci Res. approach to treat obstructive sleep apnea. Ann Med Health Sci Res4(4):481–486.

# B

- Barthlen G. M., Brown L. K., Wiland M. R., Sadeh J. S., Patwari J., & Zimmerman, M. (2000). Comparison of three oral appliances for treatment of severe obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Sleep medicine, 1(4), 299-305.
- 5) Bhatia S, Jayan B, Chopra SS (2016). Effect of retraction of anterior teeth on pharyngeal airway and hyoid bone position in ClassI bimaxillary dentoalveolar protrusion. Medical journal, Armed Forces India;72(Suppl 1):S17–S23
- 6) Brietzke SE, Gallagher D (2006). The effectiveness of tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy in the treatment of pediatric obstructive sleep
apnea/hypopnea syndrome: a meta-analysis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.;134(6):979–984.8)

- 7) Berry R. B., Budhiraja R., Gottlieb D. J., Gozal D., Iber C., Kapur V. K., & Tangredi, M. M (2007). Rules for scoring respiratory events in sleep: update of theAASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events: deliberations of the sleep apnea definitions task force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine*,2012, 8(5), 597-619.
- Bottini P, Tantucci C (2003). Sleep apnea syndrome in endocrine diseases Respiration;70(3):320–327

# C

- 9) Chan A. S. L., Lee R. W. W., Srinivasan V. K., Darendeliler M. A., Grunstein R. R., & Cistulli P. A (2010). Nasopharyngoscopic evaluation of oral appliance therapy for obstructive sleep apnoea. *European Respiratory Journal*, 35(4), 836-842.
- 10) Chan A. S., Sutherland K., Schwab R. J., Zeng B., Petocz P., Lee R. W., ... & Cistulli P. A (2010). The effect of mandibular advancement on upper airway structure in obstructive sleep apnoea. Thorax, 65(8), 726-732.
- 11) Chanson P, Salenave S. (2008). Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases ;3:17–18.

- 12) Cheshire K, Engleman H, Deary I, Shapiro C, Douglas NJ. (1992) Factors impairing daytime performance in patients with sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome. *Arch Intern Med*,152:538-41
- 13) Christian Guilleminault, MD (2010).medical clinics of north America/ sleep medicine guest edition, 2010, v 94 (3)517–529 doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2010.02.004
- 14) Colledge NR, Walker BR, Ralston S (2010) . Davidson's principles and practice of medicine. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone/Elsevierpp. 1440

# D

- 15) De Jesús R, Fishbein W (2021). Risk and resiliency factors associated with poor sleep quality in elderly populations. *MOJ Gerontol Ger*,;6(3):64–67.DOI: 10.15406/mojgg.2021.06.00270
- 16) Di Malta E. (1992). Basi Anatomo Fisiologiche delle III Classi. Terapia Ortopedica. Bologna: Edizioni Martina.

## E

17) Ennedy DB, Osepchook M (2005). Unilateral Posterior Crossbite with Mandibular Shift:A Review. J Can Dent Assoc. 71(8):569–573. *Journal* of Otolaryngology-ENT Research. 18) Epstein L. J., Kristo D., Strollo Jr P. J., Friedman N., Malhotra A., Patil S. P., Weinstein M (2009). D.Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Clinical guideline for the evaluation, management and long-term care of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. *Journal Clinincs of Sleep Med* 5(3), 263-276.

#### F

- 19) Feuth T., Saaresranta T., Karlsson A., Valtonen M., Peltola V., Rintala E., & Oksi J. (2020). Is sleep apnoea a risk factor for Covid-19? Findings from a retrospective cohort study. medRxiv.
- 20) Friedman M., Maley A., Kelley K., Leesman C., Patel A., Pulver T., Catli T (2011). Impact of nasal obstruction on obstructive sleep apnea. *Otolaryngology--Head and Neck Surgery*, 144(6), 1000-1004.
- 21) Food and drug administration (FDA) (Fedral agency of department of health and human services) (2020). *Inspire upper airway stimulation system implant manual*,p130008D
- **22)** Food and drug administration (FDA) (Fedral agency of department of health and human services) (2020). *Inspire*® *Upper Airway Stimulation*—P130008/S039.

# G

23) Gianni E. (1980).La nuova Ortognatodonzia. Padova (Italy): Piccin;

- 24) Guilleminault C., & Khramtsov A. (2001). Upper airway resistance syndrome in children: a clinical review in Seminars in Pediatric Neurology (Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 207-215). WB Saunders.
- 25) Guilleminault C., Li K. K., Khramtsov A., Pelayo R., & Martinez S (2004). Sleep disordered breathing: surgical outcomes in prepubertal children. The Laryngoscope, 114(1), 132-137
- 26) Guilleminault C., Partinen M., Praud J. P., Quera-Salva M. A., Powell N., & Riley R (1989). Morphometric facial changes and obstructive sleep apnea in adolescents. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 114(6), 997-999.

# Η

- 27) Harand C., Bertran F., Doidy F., Guénolé F., Desgranges B., Eustache F., & Rauchs G (2012). How aging affects sleep-dependent memory consolidation? *Frontiers in neurology*, 3, article,8.
  28) http://www.springer.com/medicine/surgery/journal/12663
- 29) Hu Z., Yin X., Liao J., Zhou C., Yang Z., & Zou S (2015). The effect of teeth extraction for orthodontic treatment on the upper airway: a systematic review. *Sleep Breathing* 19(2):441–451.

- 30) Ip M. S., Lam K. S., Ho C. M., Tsang K. W., & Lam W. K (2000). Serum leptin and vascular risk factors in obstructive sleep apnea. Chest, 118(3), 580-586.
- **31) Inspire Medical Systems** (November 12, 2020), Inc. Inspire sleep apnea innovation.

# J

- 32) Jehan S., Zizi F., Pandi-Perumal S. R., Wall S., Auguste E., Myers A. K., McFarlane S. I (2017). Obstructive sleep apnea and obesity: implications for public health. *Sleep medicine and disorders: international journal*,1(4).
- 33) José Maurício Lopes Neto 1, Leandro Ortega Brandão, Alessandra Loli, Celso Vieira de Souza Leite, Silke Anna Theresa Weber (2013). Evaluation of obstructive sleep apnea in obese patients scheduled for bariatric surgery. Acta Cirurgica Brasileira. Advances in Obesity Weight Management & Control article, 28(4):317.
- 34) José A. Pinto, Rodrigo Kohler, , Luciana B. M. Godoy, Henrique Wambier, Thiago B. Sônego, Elcio I. Mizoguchi (2012). American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery. Position Statement: Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea. [Cited March 11,2015] Available from http://www.entnet.org/node/549.

- 35) Katyal V., Pamula Y., Martin A. J., Daynes C. N., Kennedy J. D., & Sampson W. J (2013). Craniofacial and upper airway morphology in pediatric sleep-disordered breathing: systematic review and metaanalysis. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, , 143(1), 20-30
- 36) Kim J., In K. Kim J., You S., Kang K., Shim J., Shin C (2004). Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in middle-aged Korean men and women. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 170(10), 1108-1113

# L

- 37) Langlade M. (1979).Cefalometria Ortodontica. Milano (Italy): Scienza e Tecnica Dentistica
- 38) Lee W. Graber, Robert L. Vanarsdall Jr., Katherine W.L. Vig, Greg J. Huang (2017). ORTHODONTICS CURRENT PRINCIPLES AND TECHNIQUES, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, chapter 12,p333-347
- 39) Lighter J., Phillips M., Hochman S., Sterling S., Johnson D., Francois F., & Stachel A. (2020). Obesity in patients younger than 60 years is a risk factor for Covid-19 hospital admission. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(15), 896-897.

40) Longmore JM (2010). Oxford handbook of clinical medicine. Oxford University Press.; p. 194

### Μ

- 41) Magdalena Dobrowolska-Zarzycka, Izabella Dunin Wilczynska, Iwona Mitura, Jolanta Szymanska (2015). BMI in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Currents issues in Pharmacy and Medical Sciences. Advances in Obesity Weight Management & Control article.Mandibular Shift:A Review. Journal of the Canadian Dental Association.2005;71(8):569–573.
- 42) McSharry D. and Malhotra A (2020). Potential influences of obstructive sleep apnea and obesity on COVID-19 severity. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, , 16(9), 1645-1645.
- 43) Mickelson S. A., Rosenthal L. D., Rock J. P., Senior B. A., Friduss M. E (1994). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and acromegaly. *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery*, 111(1), 25-30.
- 44) Monjan AA (2010). Perspective on sleep and aging. Frontiers in Neurology,;1:124

### Ν

45) Nagayoshi M, Yamagishi K, Tanigawa T, Sakurai S, Kitamura A, Kiyama M, Imano H, Ohira T, Sato S, Sankai T, Iso H. (2011)
CIRCS InvestigatorsSleep Breath. National Library of Medicine,15(1):63-9 46) O'Connor G. T., Caffo B., Newman A. B., Quan S. F., Rapoport D. M., Redline S., Shahar E (2009). Prospective study of sleep-disordered breathing and hypertension: the Sleep Heart Health Study. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, , 179(12), 1159-1164.

#### Ρ

- 47) Pevernagie D. A., Stanson A. W., Sheedy 2nd P. F., Daniels B. K.,
  & Shepard Jr J. W (1995). Effects of body position on the upper airway of patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 152(1), 179-185.
- 48) Pirelli P, Botti F, Arcuri C (1996). New morphologic data on the human palatal suture (abstract). Acts 72 Congress-Eur Orthod Soc Brighton.
- 49) Pirelli P., Saponara M., De Rosa C., Fanucci E (1993). Considerazioni sulla sinostosi della sutura mesiopalatina dell'uomo: studio istologico [Considerations on the synostosis of the human midpalatal suture: histological investigation]. Ortognatodonzia Italiana;2(1):111–5 [in Italian].
- 50) Punjabi N. M., & Polotsky V. Y. (2005). Disorders of glucose metabolism in sleep apnea. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 99(5), 1998-2007.

# R

- **Rada R** (2005). Obstructive sleep apnea and head and neck neoplasms. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*.;132(5):794–799.
- 52) Redline S., Yenokyan G., Gottlieb D. J., Shahar E., O'Connor G. T., Resnick H. E., Punjabi N. M (2010). Obstructive sleep apnea– hypopnea and incident stroke: the sleep heart health study. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 182(2), 269-277.
- 53) Rodgers A (2017), English JD Reviewing the Evidence: Do Orthodontic Premolar Extractions Directly Cause Obstructive Sleep Apnea?. *Journal of Otolaryngol ENT Res* 8(1): 00230
- 54) Rodrigues MP, Naves LA, Casulari LA (2007). Using clinical data to predict sleep hypoxemia in patients with acromegaly. Arq Neuropsiquiatr,;65(2A):234–239
- 55) Ronald Attanasio, DDS, MSEd, MS Dennis R. Bailey, DDS (2010), Dental Management of Sleep Disorders.section 3, p165-255.
- 56) Ruehland W. R., Rochford P. D., O'Donoghue F. J., Pierce R. J., Singh P., & Thornton A (2009). T. The new AASM criteria for scoring hypopneas: impact on the apnea hypopnea index. Sleep, , 32(2), 150-157.
- 57) Ryan J Soose, Matheus Araujo, Kevin Faber, Asim Roy, Kent Lee, Quan Ni, Jaideep Srivastava, Patrick J Strollo (2022). Cluster

Analysis of Upper Airway Stimulation Adherence Patterns and Implications on Clinical Care. Sleep.*Sleep*,zsac049

# S

- 58) Sano M., Sano S., Oka N., Yoshino K., & Kato T (2013). Increased oxygen load in the prefrontal cortex from mouth breathing: *a vector-based near-infrared spectroscopy study*. *Neuro report*, , 24(17), 935.
- 59) Scapuccin M., Thamboo A., & Rashid N (2018). Transsphenoidal pituitary surgery effects on obstructive sleep apnea in patients with acromegaly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Otolaryngol ENT Res*, 10(6), 306-310.
- 60) Schmidt-Nowara WW, Coultas DB, Wiggins C, Skipper BE, Samet JM (1990). Arch Intern Med. National Library of Medicine, Mar; 150(3):597-601
- 61) Sharma K, Shrivastav S, Sharma N, Hotwani K, Murrell MD (2014). Effects of first premolar extraction on airway dimensions in young adolescents: A retrospective cephalometric appraisal. Contemporary clinic Dentistry,5(2):190–194.
- 62) S. J. Kim and K. B. Kim (2020). Orthodontics in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients: A Guide to Diagnosis, Treatment Planning, and Interventions. 1st ed. Springer Nature. p, 3,4,5

- 63) Sugiura T., Noda A., Nakata S., Yasuda Y., Soga T., Miyata S., Koike Y (2007). Influence of nasal resistance on initial acceptance of continuous positive airway pressure in treatment for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Respiration, 74(1), 56-60.
- 64) Sutherland K, Lee RW, Cistulli PA (2012). Obesity and craniofacial structure as risk factors for obstructive sleep apnoea: impact of ethnicity. Respirology.;17(2):213–22.

#### Т

- 65) T.M. Graber (2013), Research Methods in Orthodontics A Guide to Understanding Orthodontic Research. p 165-167
- 66) Timothy I Morgenthaler, Sheldon Kapen, Teofilo Lee-Chiong, Cathy Alessi, Brian Boehlecke, Terry Brown, Jack Coleman, Leah Friedman, Vishesh Kapur, Judith Owens, Jeffrey Pancer, Todd Swick (2006), Practice parameters for the medical therapy of obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep.;29(8):1031–1035.
- 67) Timothy I. Morgenthaler, MD, Vadim Kagramanov, MD, Viktor Hanak, MD, Paul A. Decker, MS (2006), *Complex Sleep Apnea Syndrome: Is It a Unique Clinical Syndrome?*, *Sleep*, Volume 29, Issue 9.
- 68) Tsuiki S, Ono T, Kuroda T (2000). mandibular advancement modulates respiratory- related genioglossus electromyographic activity. *Sleep Breath*,4(2):53–58

- 69) Valiathan M, El H, Hans MG, Palomo MJ (2010). Effects of extraction versus non-extraction treatment on oropharyngeal airway volume. *Angle Orthodontist.*;80(6):1068-74. doi: 10.2319/010810-19.1. PMID: 20677956
- 70) Viazis AD, Viazis E, Pagonis TC (2016). Non-surgical orthodontic adult molar crossbite correction and sleep apnea. *Journal of Dental Health*, *Oral Disorders & Therapy* ;5(5):327–330. DOI: 10.15406/jdhodt.2016.05.00168

### W

- 71) Wallace A; Bucks RS (2013). *Memory and obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis*. SLEEP;36(2):203-220
- 72) Weaver TE, Grunstein RR(2008). Adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy: the challenge to effective treatment. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.*;5(2):173–17
- 73) William R. Proffit, Henry W. Fields, Jr., Brent E. Larson, David M. Sarver (2019), Contemporary Orthodontics, Sixth Edition, chapter 7,p139,140.

# Y

74) Yetkin O, Kunter E, Gunen H. (2008). CPAP compliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep Breath.*;12(4):365–367 **79)** Young T., Palta M., Dempsey J., Skatrud J., Weber S., & Badr S. (1993). The occurrence of sleep-disordered breathing among middle-aged adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*, , 328(17), 1230-1235

# Ζ

- 80) Zaman S (2019). Obesity and sleep apnea. Advances in Obesity
  Weight Management & Control article,9(3):
  71.DOI:10.15406/aowmc.2019.09.00277.
- 81)Zawn Villines (2021) on February 26, Medically reviewed by Janet Hilbert, MD.*medical news today*.